IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-KA-01539-SCT



JOHN WILLIS GILBERT, JR.

APPELLANT

vs.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

John Willis Gilbert, Jr., Appellant;

Allan D. Shackelford, Esq., trial attorney;

Jessica Ayers, Russell Barksdale, and Phillip W. Broadhead, Esqs., Attorneys for the Appellant, Criminal Appeals Clinic, University of Mississippi School of Law;

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUSTAIN THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE JURY'S VERDICT (J.N.O.V.) BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT, OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, REFUSING TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL, AS THE VERDICT OF THE JURY WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

ISSUE TWO:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL AFTER A STATE'S WITNESS TESTIFIED, IN VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS, THAT THE APPELLANT DID NOT WANT TO GIVE A FORMAL STATEMENT OR SPEAK WITH POLICE AFTER BEING ARRESTED, THEN MIRANDIZED, WHICH ONLY COMPOUNDED THE ERROR ALREADY COMMITTED BY THE COURT WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO PREMATURELY REFER TO THE ACCUSER AS THE "VICTIM" AFTER THE APPELLANT FILED FOR A MOTION IN LIMINE TO PROHIBIT THE STATE FROM USING SUCH HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL REFERENCES PRIOR TO PROVING A CRIME EVEN OCCURRED.

ISSUE THREE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE FACTS IN THE CASE MET THE CRITERIA FOR SENTENCING THE APPELLANT AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER UNDER SECTION 99-19-83 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED WHEN THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THE APPELLANT'S PREVIOUS CONVICTIONS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT WHEN IT "GUESSED" AT THE

MEANINGS OF ABBREVIATIONS AND THE INDICTMENT FAILED TO LIST THE CORRECT CONVICTION OF A PREVIOUS CHARGE.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant, John Willis Gilbert, Jr., is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2008).

STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF ORAL ARGUMENT

This case is very fact-intensive and the Appellant, through counsel, would respectfully request this Court to grant oral argument to present conflicts in the rulings of the trial court based on the evidence and testimony presented at trial that are alleged by the Appellant to be erroneous.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case of jealously, anger, and revenge. John Gilbert, the Appellant herein, claimed Alice Stapelton attacked and injured him with a knife, and she in turn accused him of being the assailant. Three people testified that they witnessed the altercation, John Gilbert, Jr. (hereinafter, "John"), Alice Stapelton (hereinafter, "Alice"), and Alice's daughter, Jamie Stapelton (hereinafter, "Alice's daughter").

John and Alice began a romantic relationship in May or June of 2008. (T. II. 152) John was married at the time. (T. I. 73) After they began dating, Alice moved into John's apartment,

Apartment 5, 1103 Riverside, Clarksdale, MS. (T. II. 152) Alice's daughter lived with her aunt. (T. I. 72) Alice continued to live with John until October or November. (T. I. 72, T. II. 152) Alice then moved about 50 feet away to Apartment 7 in the same complex. (T. I. 72, 152-153) Alice's daughter then moved in with Alice. (T. I. 72) Alice's mother lived directly across the hall from her. (T. I. 56)

At some point during the fall of 2008, John told Alice that his wife wanted him back. (T. I. 142) John believed that Alice became angry about him renewing his relationship with his wife while Alice was still living with him. (T. II. 154) Alice's daughter was not sure if John and Alice started "fussing" after she and Alice moved in together. (T. I. 72) Alice said that, in November, she broke up with John in November because he was "lying and stealing." (T. I. 127) She also testified that she never met John's wife. (T. I. 146) Alice allegedly felt that as far as she was concerned, after she broke up with John, he could go back to his wife. *Id*.

It is undisputed that after Alice moved out, John frequently came to her apartment to visit or eat meals. Alice's daughter stated that the visits were not uncommon. (T. I. 72) During the visits, they would watch television, play cards, and cook. (T. I. 128) John explained that they also drank beer and socialized with friends. (T. II. 155) Alice testified that when he visited, John brought a knife for cooking. (T. I. 128, 131) She later claimed that John used the same knife to attack her. *Id.*

John unwaveringly maintained that he and Alice continued seeing each other every day after Alice moved out. (T. II. 153) He recounted that sometimes Alice would come over to his place and sometimes he would go over to her place. *Id.* John siad he would go over to Alice's apartment and visit before she went to and after she got off work. (T. II. 155) Since John was a smoker and Alice and her daughter were not, he would walk outside of Alice's apartment to smoke. (T. I. 73-74)

The violence that lead to John's conviction and life sentence occurred on December 18, 2008.

(T. I. 53) At that time, Alice's daughter was pregnant. (T. I. 55) Alice recalled that the last time they

argued was a week and a half before. (T. I. 144-45) Alice also described John as acting normal that night. (T. I. 137) John got to Alice's apartment around 6:00 or 6:30 in the evening. (T. II. 156) He and Alice's daughter played a card game while Alice cooked spaghetti. *Id.* Later, all three watched a movie in the living room. *Id.* Alice laid on the same loveseat where John was sitting. (T. II. 73) Alice's daughter laid down on a sofa. (T. I. 53) Alice was underneath some sheets. (T. I. 63) Accounts of what happened after they began watching the movie are in direct conflict and hopelessly irreconcilable.

John's account was that Alice, "as was her habit" fell asleep early while John and Alice's daughter remained awake. (T. II. 156) After Alice fell asleep, John thought he "stepped out maybe twice to smoke." *Id.* When he came back from smoking, Alice was still asleep on the loveseat. *Id.* Later, Alice's daughter also fell asleep. (T. II. 157)

After the movie ended, John got ready to leave and made a bowl of spaghetti to take home with him. *Id.* Alice was lying on her stomach, and her head was facing her Christmas tree. (T. II. 161) (*See* Exh. S-8, RE. 37) Surprisingly, when he went back to the loveseat to kiss Alice goodbye, she suddenly pulled out a heavy butcher knife with a triangular blade and attacked him. (T. II. 157) It was not his cooking knife. *Id.* John did not know where Alice got the knife, but he thought that she had it under a cushion below her head. (T. II. 162) She swung at him with the knife while she was still lying down and then got up off the loveseat. (T. II. 158) Neither was cut while Alice was still on the loveseat, as it is without dispute that no blood was found on the loveseat. (T. II. 159)

When Alice got up, John stepped back before stepping forward to grab her arm to protect himself. *Id.* They then struggled. *Id.* Alice held the knife in her right hand. (T. II. 161) John is right-handed and six feet tall, weighing 180 pounds. (T. II. 161 & 163) During the struggle, both John and Alice were cut with the butcher knife. (T. II. 159) However, John unequivocally contended

that he neither stabbed nor caused intentional injury to Alice. (T. II. 160) John eventually got the knife from her, immediately dropped it, and ran out of the backdoor. (T. II. 160 & 164) At some point in time after Alice's attack, John dropped the bowl of spaghetti in the living room. (T. II. 165)

Alice's version of what happened differs dramatically. Alice claims she did not have a knife in her possession while on the loveseat and was still awake when her daughter fell asleep. (T. I. 129, 132, 134) She testified that John got off the loveseat around 1:10 a.m. and went into the kitchen and got his knife. (T. I. 140, 129) Alice was laying on her side and facing the television but was not sure if it was her left or right side. (T. I. 133) Sshe thought John had left. (T. I. 129) She closed her eyes, and claimed that when she opened them, John was stabbing her with a big kitchen knife. (T. I. 130)

Alice claimed that the first place John "stabbed" her was the top part of her ear, which caused it to bleed. (T. I. 133, 141) (*See* Exh. S-5, RE. 34) According to her account, after he stabbed her once, she started getting off of the loveseat while John continued to stab her, and once she was up, John stabbed her in the chest. (T. I. 141, 134-35) Alice then tried to take the knife from John. (T. I. 135-36) Alice does not recall if she said anything or not. (T. I. 135) She also testified that at some point, John stabbed her twice in her left arm. *Id.* (*See* Exh. S-3, RE. 33) Her daughter woke up after Alice got off the loveseat and told John to "leave my mom alone." (T. I. 134) Alice was unable to get the knife from John and could not explain why he stopped stabbing her. (T. I. 136) John then supposedly "ran out" of the apartment's back door while Alice was still inside. (T. I. 136, 138)

Alice's daughter's version of events also differs from both Alice's and John's. She states that she and her mother fell asleep while watching television (T. I. 53) When she fell asleep, her mother was lying down on the loveseat where John was sitting. (T. I. 74) When she awoke, she claimed she saw John on top of her mother who was still on the loveseat and that her mother was screaming and trying to fight off John. (T. I. 54-55, 66) Alice's daughter explained the she could not see very well

after she awoke. (T. I. 74) She attested that she did not notice any blood on her mother during the struggle. (T. I. 66)

Alice's daughter testified that she initially thought John was only hitting her mother and realized he had a knife only after seeing light from the television reflect off the blade. (T. I.54, 67) Alice's daughter saw John moving the knife in a "kind of fast" stabbing motion. *Id.* She testified that during the struggle, Alice manage to get off the couch and was "slight bent over" trying to fight John off when stabbed in the neck. (T. I. 55, 66)

Alice's daughter testified that she rose from the sofa and told John to stop, and that because of her pregnancy, she was scared of getting involved in the fight. (T. I. 55) She claimed that she began hitting John, but did not remember how much longer the struggle lasted. (T. I. 75-76) After Alice's daughter told John to stop, supposedly, his hand was cut, and he stopped attacking her mother. (T. I. 55) Alice's daughter did not claim to see John cut his hand or know how or who cut it. (T. I. 56, 78) She estimated that the fight ended three to four minutes after she awoke. (T. I. 80)

Some of the statement Alice's daughter gave to police differs from her final version of the events. She told police that she "was hitting John in the back and telling him to stop, and then [John] ran out of the back door of the apartment." (T. I. 75) She also told the police that John left the apartment before Alice and her, but at trial, she said that John was the first to leave. (T. I. 77)

Alice and her daughter claimed that after the struggle, they went across the hall to Alice's mother's apartment. (T. I. 55) Alice stated that her niece let them in. (T. I. 137) Neither Alice's mother nor niece testified at trial.

Alice's daughter said that she returned to their apartment to get a jacket after an ambulance arrived. (T. I. 57) She said a police officer accompanied her. *Id.* Alice's daughter said that after the paramedics put her mother in an ambulance, her mother told her to return to the apartment to get a

jacket for her. *Id.* When she went back to the apartment for a second time, without an officer, she noticed the back door, which led to an outside area behind the apartment complex, was open. *Id.* Neither Alice's daughter nor any police officer claimed to see any signs of John returning to the apartment either of the times Alice's daughter retrieved jackets.

Alice's daughter stated that the ambulance took her mother to the hospital, and she went as well. (T. I. 58) Once there, Alice's daughter spoke with Sergeant Sims (hereinafter, "Sims"). *Id.*

Before going to the hospital, Sims was contacted by the dispatch and arrived at Alice and John's apartment complex around 2:00 a.m. and took photographs while remaining there for ten or fifteen minutes. (T. I. 83, 102, 103) Sims described how, in a photograph of the loveseat where the attack on Alice allegedly began, the throw pillows were not out of place. (T. I. 102) (See Exh. S-8, RE. 37) He later testified that while the two cushions on the end of the loveseat were in place, the one in the middle was merely "out of line." (T. I. 107) The photograph taken by Sims depicts two large pillows still in place in a vertical position on both sides of the loveseat. (See Exh. S-8, RE. 37)

Sims did not report any sign of blood on the loveseat, and the it was never tested by police for the presence of blood. Sims testified that he observed a lot of blood-soaked gauze bandages on the floor of Apartment 7, which is Alice's apartment. (T. I. 83) (See Exh. S-11, RE. 39) He also testified that there was a lot of blood on the floor of her mother's apartment. Id. Alice's daughter testified that the picture Sims took of her mother's apartment depicted sheets with bloodstains. (T. I. 63) (See Exh. S-9, RE. 38) She also stated that these were the same sheets her mother was lying under earlier in the night. Id. The sheets were never tested by police for the presence of blood.

Sims testified that he did not search for a knife because other officers on the scene told him that Alice said the attacker left the scene with it. (T. I. 104) Sims has been employed with the Clarksdale Police Department for four years and has been in law enforcement for about fourteen. (T.

I. 82, 102) After he photographed the scene, Sims went to the emergency room where he spoke with Alice and her daughter. (T. I. 83)

Alice was at the hospital emergency room for approximately six or seven hours. (T. I. 58) Sims took a picture of Alice in a neck brace at the hospital. (T. I. 64) No witness for the state offered testimony about why Alice was in a neck brace. After Alice was released from the hospital, she and her daughter returned to the their apartment; Sims was waiting outside. (T. I. 58)

Alice's daughter stated that she took Sims to a house were John was found. (T. I. 65) Sims found John at 8:00 a.m. at a house where a friend of John's lived. (T. I. 84) When Sims knocked on the door, a man opened it. *Id*. When Sims asked him if John was there, the man went further into the residence, and John came to the door. *Id*. Sims then placed John under arrest. *Id*.

Sims also testified that John's clothes were blood-stained and that John had a large cut on his hand. (T. I. 84). (See Exh. S-15, RE. 40) Sims arrested John and took him to the Clarksdale Police Department where he read John his *Miranda* Rights. *Id.* Sims took pictures of John at the department. (T. I. 86) The photographs depicted John's pants leg, which Sims described as showing spots of blood, and John's right hand where there is a large cut on his right pinky. (T. I. 87) Sims stated that the wound on John's hand was about half an inch long and ran down from the middle joint of the finger up to the top joint. (T. I. 105) Sims took John's belt, shirt, and pants to the Mississippi Crime Laboratory (hereinafter, "MCL") along with blood samples from Alice and John. (T. I. 90, 93) Sims, however, neither sent any of Alice's clothes to the MCL nor checked her shirt for any holes that might collaborate her claim of being stabbed in the chest.

Sims also took pictures of Alice's individual cuts at the police department after Alice was released from the hospital emergency room. (T. I. 106) (*See* Exh. S-3, S-5, S-6, S-7, RE. 33-36) The wounds in the photographs are not lumped together in the same general area of her body. There are

one or two wounds on her upper left arm, one on her ear, one on the back of her neck, and one on her chest. (See Exh. S-3, S-5, S-6, S-7, RE. 33-36) Unlike the photograph of John, these photographs do not depict any defensive injuries to Alice's hands.

The MCL found stains consistent with blood on the clothes Sims delivered, and it sent samples to Jackson for DNA analysis. (T. I. 113, 118) The analysis identified seven blood stains as matching John's reference sample and only one stain matching Alice's. (T. I. 123)

Alice and her daughter continued to live at Apartment 7 after the incident. (T. I. 52) Alice's daughter testified that she did not see the knife allegedly used by John again until it was found under the kitchen sink about three months later. (T. I. 68) She stated that Alice told Sims about the knife, and he came to get it. (T. I. 69) Alice's daughter also stated that she gave it to Sims, but she later testified that she was not sure if it was the knife used in the alleged attack. (T. I. 70) Sims testified that after being notified of the knife, he retrieved it form Alice's cabinet on May 27, 2009. (T. I. 96)

Alice conveyed that she found the knife in April under her kitchen sink. (T. I. 131, 144) She also testified that John never came back to the apartment after December 18, 2008. (T. I. 143)

The knife that Alice found and claimed John attacked her with was never tested for the presence of blood, fingerprints, or DNA. When shown to her at trial, Alice admitted that she could not see any blood on the knife. (T. I. 144) John identified the knife as his kitchen knife. (T. II. 155) However, he testified that Alice used a different knife when she attacked him and that there were other butcher knives in Alice's apartment. *Id.*

John was indicted for aggravated assault as a habitual offender on May 26, 2009, by a Grand Jury in Coahoma County, Mississippi. (CP. 2, RE. 10) The trial judge denied the Appellant's motion in limine to prevent the prosecutor and all witnesses from referring to Alice as a "victim." (T. I. 2-4, RE 21-23). The defense was granted a continuing objection to the use of the term throughout the

trial. (T. I. 4, RE 23) During trial, the State's case included the inconsistent testimonies from the accuser and her daughter. (T. I. 52-80, 126-45) (T. II. 146-47) During the State's presentation of its case, the defense moved twice for a mistrial due to Officer Sims bringing his weapon onto the stand and for the Sims' testimony that John "refused" to talk to the officer after his *Miranda* rights were read. (T. I. 82, 85, RE. 26) The trial judge denied both motions for mistrial. (T. I. 82, 85) Joseph Heflin, a forensic biologist who testified as an expert for the state, referred to Alice as "the victim." (T. I. 124)

After the presentation of the State's case, the defense moved for a directed verdict as to the charge of aggravated assault due to the State's failure to prove each and every element of the crime. (T. II. 148, RE. 20) The trial judge denied the defense's motion. (T. II. 148, RE. 20) The trial judge then asked if John would be testifying, and he answered affirmatively. (T. II. 148-49) The defense put on John as its only witness and rested its case. (T. II. 168) After the conclusion of its case, the defense again moved for a directed verdict of acquittal, arguing that there was insufficient evidence to sustain a verdict of guilty, but the motion was denied. (T. II. 169)

After a short discussion, the defense offered a peremptory instruction for a not guilty verdict to the jury which was denied. (T. II. 173) Then with the addition of a self-defense instruction, the jury instructions were given by the trial court. (T. II. 173-75). After less than a two hour deliberation, the jury returned a verdict of guilty to the indicted charge of aggravated assault. (T. II. 195) After the jury was dismissed, the trial court deferred sentencing because while John was tried as a habitual offender, the State lacked documentation with regard to the sentences that were imposed on previous convictions. (T. II. 199). At the sentencing hearing held in Clarksdale on September 17, 2009, the defense objected to the State's motion to amend its indictment post-verdict, but the amendment was allowed by the trial court. (T. II. 215, RE. 28) John was sentenced as a

habitual offender to life in prison without parole, probation, or any other form of early release. (T. II. 217) The defense filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, for a new trial. (C.P. 15-16, R.E. 16-17) These motions were denied by the trial court. (CP. 17, R.E. 18) Feeling aggrieved by the verdict and sentence of the lower court, the Appellant herein perfected this appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court on September 21, 2009. (C.P. 21, R.E. 19)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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