IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN WILLIS GILBERT, JR.

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1539

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the Appellant's conviction and sentence as the Appellant did not establish that there were any reversible errors committed during his trial. Additionally, there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict in that the State provided evidence establishing each element of aggravated assault with a deadly weapon. Also, the verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and allowing it to stand would not sanction an unconscionable injustice.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Appellant's motion for mistrial. First, the comment regarding the Appellant's post-arrest silence did not result in substantial and irreparable prejudice to the Appellant's case particularly in light of the fact that it was an isolated comment and the fact that it did not invite the jury to consider his post-arrest silence as evidence of his guilt. Secondly, the trial court immediately admonished the jury to disregard the comment. As

Mississippi law is clear that the trial court is in the best position to determine prejudice and as there is a presumption that jurors follow the instructions of the court, there is no reversible error. Additionally, there was no error in allowing a witness to refer to Ms. Stapleton as the “victim.”

The Appellant was properly sentenced as a habitual offender under Miss. Code Ann. §99-19-83. An amendment to the habitual offender portion of the indictment was properly allowed during the sentencing hearing as it was one of form and not substance. Further, there was sufficient proof presented evidencing that the requirements for sentencing under §99-19-83 were met.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE APPELLANT’S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT AND MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL AS THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT AND AS THE VERDICT WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

The Appellant first questions “whether the trial court erred in failing to sustain the Appellant’s Motion to Set Aside the Jury’s Verdict (JNOV) because the evidence presented at trial was legally insufficient, or in the alternative, refusing to grant the Appellant’s Motion for a New Trial, as the verdict of the jury was not supported by the overwhelming weight of the evidence.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 14). The State of Mississippi would respond to the Appellant’s first question by unequivocally stating that the trial judge did not err in denying both motions in that there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict and the verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

A. The trial court properly denied the Appellant’s Motion for New Trial as the verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

A motion for new trial challenges the weight of the evidence. *Vaughn v. State*, 926 So.2d 269, 271(Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Hawthorne v. State*, 835 So.2d 14, 21 (Miss. 2003)). When

reviewing a denial of a motion for new trial, appellate courts “will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice.” *Id.* (quoting *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005)). As the Court of Appeals noted this Court has previously stated that

. . . on a motion for new trial, the court sits as a thirteenth juror. The motion however, is addressed to the discretion of the court, which should be exercised with caution, and the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict.

Id. (*emphasis added*). The Appellant’s case is not one of those exceptional cases where the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict.

To support his claim that the evidence in this case “literally cries out” for this Court to “invoke its status as the thirteenth juror” and reverse this conviction, the Appellant first argues that the “physical evidence is diametrically opposed to and contradicts in material particulars Alice and her daughter’s story.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 15 - 16). The State would first note with regard to this claim that “[t]he issue of weight and credibility accorded to evidence is a matter to be resolved by the jury, whose province is not invaded by this Court.” *Alonso v. State*, 838 So.2d 309, 314 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Clay v. State*, 811 So.2d 477 (Miss. 2002)). Secondly, the State would assert that the physical evidence is NOT in conflict with the testimony of Ms. Stapleton and her daughter.

The Appellant notes as, an example of this alleged conflict in the evidence, “the presence of [the Appellant’s] defensive wound and Alice’s lack of any such wounds.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 16). However, there was no evidence presented classifying either Ms. Stapleton’s wounds or the Appellant’s wounds as defensive or otherwise. In this same vein, the Appellant asserts that the “types of wounds” Alice received somehow weigh against her testimony regarding how the incident occurred noting that the wounds, with one exception, are “cuts, not stabs.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 16).

He further argues that Alice's short stay in the emergency room weighs against her testimony as does the "random, sporadic, and spread out" placement of the wounds. (Appellant's Brief p. 17). He claims that these observations evidence a "reasonable inference" that Ms. Stapleton's wounds were not severe and were possibly self-inflicted "during and after the struggle rather than the result of a 'stabbing.'" (Appellant's Brief p. 17). However, the Appellant merely speculates as to these "inferences." While "[i]t is well-established in Mississippi that a jury, as the finder of fact, is entitled to consider not only facts as testified to by witnesses, but all inferences that may be reasonably and logically deduced from the facts and evidence," the inferences must be LOGICALLY AND REASONABLY deduced from the evidence. *McManis v. State*, 901 So.2d 648, 651 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Pryor v. State*, 349 So.2d 1063, 1064 (Miss. 1977)). There was absolutely no evidence whatsoever that Ms. Stapleton's wounds were self-inflicted. Additionally, Jamie's testimony that her mother tried "to fight [the Appellant] off," actually creates the inference that the wounds were less severe and on various parts of her body because of Ms. Stapleton's attempts to get away from the Appellant.

The Appellant also points to the lack of blood on the love seat and the proper placement of the pillows on the love seat as examples of the conflict between the physical evidence and Ms. Stapleton's testimony that the Appellant stabbed her while she was lying on the love seat. (Appellant's Brief p. 18). The State would counter that simply because there was no blood on the love seat does not mean that Ms. Stapleton was not stabbed while lying on the love seat. Jamie testified that the bloodstained sheet pictured in Exhibit S-9 is the sheet her mother was lying under on the love seat. (Transcript p. 63). The jury most likely inferred that any blood from the wound Ms. Stapleton received while on the love seat ended up on the sheet she slept under. Moreover, the Appellant's assertion that the pillow placement on the love seat after the attack evidences that the

Appellant could not have attacked Ms. Stapleton while she was on the love seat is a stretch to say the least. There is no way to know in what manner the pillows were placed on the love seat prior to the attack and certainly no way to infer what happened on the love seat by their placement after the attack.

The Appellant also argues that Ms. Stapleton could not have received a cut to her right ear if she were lying on the love seat in the manner she described at trial. (Appellant's Brief p. 18). However, the record does not fully disclose exactly how Ms. Stapleton was lying on the love seat. She testified that she was lying on her side facing the television but that she could not remember whether she was lying on her right side or left side. (Transcript p.133). She answered numerous questions during cross-examination about the placement of her head on the love seat based upon the picture in Exhibit S-8. (Transcript p. 139 - 140). Unfortunately, the record does not indicate where on the picture she pointed to as being the place she rested her head while lying on the love seat. Thus, there is no way to determine from the record exactly how she was lying on the love seat.

The Appellant also argues that "the sudden appearance of the knife" months after the attack supports his contention that the physical evidence is contradictory to the testimony of the State's witnesses. (Appellant's Brief p. 19). He argues that it is "highly improbable that [Ms. Stapleton and Jamie] could have lived in that apartment that long without ever having looked under the sink, the area where cleaning supplies and other modern necessities are normally stored." (Appellant's Brief p. 20). However, there is nothing in the record showing that the two kept anything at all under their sink or that they had any reason to look there prior to Jamie's finding the knife months later. Again, while jurors may consider inferences from the testimony, these inferences must be reasonably and logically based in the evidence. This inference, along with many of the other inferences argued by the Appellant, are not reasonable or logical in light of the record before the Court. Additionally, the

Appellant claims that Jamie “testified that the knife was found three months after the struggle” and the investigating officer testified that he received the knife five months later. (Transcript p. 19). Again the record evidences that there is no contradiction. Jamie did not testify that she knew for certain that the knife was found three months after the incident. In fact, when asked when she found the knife, her exact testimony was “I’m not sure actually.” (Transcript p. 68). She was asked to give her best guess and responded that she thought it was “about three months later.” (Transcript p. 68). Her “best guess” being off a bit does not prove anything.

Also in support of his contention that the physical evidence is opposed to the testimony of the State’s witnesses, the Appellant argues that Jamie presented conflicting testimony. One alleged example is that she told police she hit the Appellant during the attack but testified that she was “scared of getting involved in the fight.” (Appellant ‘s Brief p. 21). This is not a contradiction. At trial, when asked what she did when she noticed the attack, Jamie responded as follows:

I got up, and I was telling him to stop. I was trying to get him up off her, but I was scared at the time because at the time I was pregnant, and I didn’t want him to turn on me . . .

(Transcript p. 55). During cross-examination she agreed that the statement she previously gave investigating officers was accurate and further agreed that she told officers the following:

I was hitting John in the back and telling him to stop fighting my mother, and then he ran out the back door of my apartment.

(Transcript p. 75). She testified, not that she was scared of getting involved and therefore, did not get involved, but rather testified that she was scared because she was pregnant and did not want him to turn on her. She later testified that she did hit the Appellant and tell him to leave her mother alone. These statements are clearly not contradictory.

The Appellant also argues that Jamie’s testimony regarding when the Appellant left the

apartment is contradictory. Again, it is not. She testified that she gave the statement set forth above to the investigating officers indicating that after she hit the Appellant, he ran out the back door.

(Transcript p. 75). During her direct testimony regarding the issue she testified as follows:

Q: Okay. And so what happened when he stopped?

A: I grabbed my mother and we went out the door and - - across the hall to my grandmother's house.

Q: Did you see where the defendant went, if anywhere?

A: No.

(Transcript p. 56). She maintained throughout cross-examination that she remembered leaving before the Appellant left and believes he went out the back door. (Transcript p. 76 - 77). She also clarified her statement to the investigating officer testifying to the following:

Q: Well, did he run out the back door when you started hitting on him and telling him to stop hitting your momma?

A: He didn't run out right then, no.

Q: How long did he stay in there after you started hitting on him?

A: I don't know.

* * *

Q: Okay. He ran out the back door before y'all went out the front door, didn't he?

A: No.

Q: Y'all went out the front door before he left?

A: Yes.

Q: Well, how did you know he went out the back door?

A: Because when I went back in, the back door was open.

(Transcript p. 75 - 76). Her statement to investigating officers did not state that as soon as she hit the Appellant he ran out. It simply stated that at some point after she hit him, he ran out. She clarified that fact in her testimony at trial. Further, any slight inconsistencies in details are to be dealt with by the jury. "It is the jury's province to resolve such conflicts, and the jury is free to accept the testimony of some witnesses and reject that of others, in whole or in part." *Shorter v. State*, 888 So.2d 452, 454 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (quoting *Montana v. State*, 822 So.2d 954, 966 (Miss. 2002)) (*emphasis added*).

The Appellant also asserts that “the forensic examination of the physical evidence gathered by police also greatly weighs in favor of [the Appellant’s] testimony” noting that of the eight blood stains on the Appellant’s pants, seven matched the Appellant’s DNA sample and only one matched Ms. Stapleton’s DNA sample. (Appellant’s Brief p. 23). This assertion proves nothing other than the Appellant got more of his own blood on his pants than that of Ms. Stapleton’s. It offers nothing in support of his testimony.

Not one of the Appellant’s assertions or contentions evidence that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Additionally, many of the assertions are not grounded in the evidence. The record does not indicate that this case is one of those exceptional cases where the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict. In fact, the record fully supports the trial court’s denial of the motion for new trial.

B. The trial court also properly denied the Appellant’s Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as there was sufficient evidence to prove each element of the crime charged.

The standard of review concerning sufficiency of the evidence requires that the trial judge “accept as true all of the evidence favorable to the State, including any reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom.” *Hoye v. State*, 867 So.2d 266, 266 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (*Wall v. State*, 718 So.2d 1107 (Miss. 1998)). “The relevant question is whether after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Vaughn v. State*, 926 So.2d 269, 271 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005)). “The court will only reverse when reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty.” *Hoye*, 867 So.2d at 266. With this standard in mind, there is sufficient evidence in the case at hand to prove each and every required element of aggravated assault.

Mississippi Code Annotated §97-3-7(2)(b) states that “[a] person is guilty of aggravated assault if he . . . (b) attempts to cause or purposely or knowingly causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm.” Thus, the State had to prove that the Appellant knowingly caused bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon. The State met this burden. First, there was evidence that Ms. Stapleton was cut and/or stabbed receiving at least five different wounds on her body. (Transcript p. 108, 133, and 135). Second, there was evidence that Ms. Stapleton’s injuries were caused by a knife, which is a deadly weapon. (Transcript p. 54, 79, 130, and 132 - 134). Finally, there was evidence that the Appellant knowingly caused, with the use of a knife, Ms. Stapleton’s injuries. (Transcript p. 54, 79, 130, and 132 - 134). Accordingly, there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict.

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